How do black-capped chickadees value visual versus acoustic cues of predation risk?

by

Josue David Arteaga Torres

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Ecology

Department of Biological Sciences

University of Alberta

© Josue David Arteaga Torres, 2020

Abstract

Animals must assess the risk of mortality due to starvation or predation when making foraging decisions. This decision-making can be guided by cues from the environment, conspecifics, heterospecifics, or by predators themselves. Information theory predicts that high certainty cues should be valued more than low certainty cues, and that two cues presented together could elicit a synergistic, additive or redundant effect depending on whether multiple cues provide greater certainty. We measured the latency of black-capped chickadees (Poecile atricapillus) to resume feeding (i.e., foraging boldness) during winter in response to different cues of predation risk: visual (merlin mount, an important predator of chickadees) and acoustic cues (conspecific mobbing calls), presented alone and in combination. As predicted, chickadees took longer to resume feeding after a visual, high certainty, cue than an acoustic, low certainty, cue. Presenting both cues simultaneously produced the same foraging delay as the visual cue alone suggesting that the acoustic cue did not provide additional information beyond that provided by the visual cue. Furthermore, under high risk of starvation (lower temperatures), chickadees resumed feeding faster following predator cues. This pattern was more evident for low certainty than high certainty cues, demonstrating the importance of the uncertainty in mediating decision-making in food-safety trade-offs.

Key words:

Information theory, cue uncertainty, foraging behaviour, risk-taking behaviour, black-capped chickadees

ii

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Josue David Arteaga Torres. The data for this project was collected in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) guidelines and approved by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC) under permit numbers: AUP00002542 and AUP00002210. The banding permits were provided by the Bird Banding Office in Canada under the permit number: 10277 AK. The recordings were collected under Environment Canada Canadian Wildlife Service Scientific permit number: #13-AB-SC004, and Alberta Fish and Wildlife Capture and Research permits numbers: #56066 and #56065. We performed the presentation of predator mounts toward chickadees under the Federal Scientific permit: #18-AB-SC001.

Chapter 1 of this thesis will be submitted for publication in the Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences that would include Jan Wijmenga (JJW) and Kimberley J. Mathot (KJM) as co-authors. For this manuscript, Josue David Arteaga Torres (JDAT) proposed the study. JDAT, JJW and KJM designed the study and banded the birds for this experiment. JDAT and JJW carried out the field work for the data collection and ran the experimental trials. JDAT analysed the data and wrote the manuscript with input from KJM. All co-authors contributed to manuscript revisions.

Dedication

"Behind every successful enterprise, there is a supporting wife and surprised in-laws."

- Scott Cook

"Las palabras nunca alcanzan cuando lo que hay que decir desborda el alma"

- Julio Cortázar

This MSc. Project is dedicated to my supportive and loving wife Megan. Always there when I need her the most.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I want to thank my supervisor Dr. Kimberley Mathot, for welcoming me into her lab and giving me the opportunity to be the first graduate student in her permanent position as professor at the University of Alberta. Thank you for allowing me to be involved in the start of such an important long-term project and participate as a peer in the proposal of this master's project. I feel honoured to have been part of Kim's lab. I would like to thank Jan Wijmenga for providing guidance during the entire process of this project, especially as the main field work technician; Sheeraja Sridharan for her help with the molecular aspects of the project; and Elène Haave Audet, Nick Gulotta, and Rebekah McKinnon for their friendship and on-going support.

I would like to thank Dr. Colleen St. Clair for her insights on the design and interpretation of results as a committee member for this thesis, as well as Dr. Evelyn Merrill for serving as an arm's length examiner and Dr. John Chang for stepping forward to chair my thesis defence. I also want to thank Erin Bayne and Catrionna Leven for loaning the recording equipment used to generate our playback files; Jenna Congdon for helping record mobbing calls from wild chickadees; Gail Kozun for providing pictures of marked individuals; and Lee Foote for facilitating our work at the University of Alberta Botanic Garden.

I also want to thank financial supporters, including the Alberta Conservation Association (ACA) for support through Grants in Biodiversity; the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) for a Discovery Grant to KJM; the University of Alberta for support through the Start-up Funds to KJM; and the Canadian Research Chairs (CRC) for a Research Grant given to Dr. Mathot for this project.

v

Finally, I want extend especially profound gratitude to all my family and friends in Ecuador, Colorado (U.S.), and Canada, who have help me in countless ways to achieve this new degree, but most notably my wife Megan Westervelt for helping with editorial comments, emotional, mental, and physical support, and incomparable love throughout this period of my life.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Visual cues of predation risk outweigh acoustic cues: a field experiment in black-capped chickadees
1. Introduction 1
2. Material and Methods 4
(a) Study area 4
(b) Study species
(c)Experiment set-up and data collection
(d) Data selection and processing
(e) Statistical analysis10
3. Results
4. Discussion
Tables and Figures
References
Appendixes and supplementary material
Appendix S1. Protocol for data extraction and visits to the feeders
Appendix S2. Mobbing calls preparation
Appendix S3. Latency to resume feeding and feeding rate from RFID readings
Supplementary tables
Supplementary Figures

List of tables

Table 1. LMM model results for latency to resume feeding (LRF) and feeding rate (FR)	
within 20 minutes after return to the feeder. Both models include only those birds that	
returned to the feeder on the same day of the treatment 1	8

List of figures

Figure 1. Graphical representation of alternative hypotheses for how multiple sources of information (cues) affect assessment of current predation risk. Cues that provide greater certainty about current risk (e.g., observation of predator) are predicted to elicit stronger responses (measured as foraging interruption or latency to resume feeding, latency) than cues that provide lower certainty about current risk (e.g., conspecific mobbing calls, predator odour). Panel (A) illustrates three scenarios depicting how multiple cues are used to assess risk. The square illustrates a scenario where multiple cues provide independent certainty about current risk levels, thereby creating an additive effect. The triangle illustrates a scenario where multiple cues provide independent certainty about current risk levels and interact with each other, increasing the magnitude of the response. The diamond illustrates a scenario where cues are redundant and multiple cues elicit a response equal to the higher certainty cue when presented alone. Panel (B) illustrates the predicted interaction between environmental conditions and certainty about current predation danger. Overall, latency is expected to be lower under conditions that increase the probability of mortality due to starvation (i.e., lower temperatures) and higher when the probability of mortality decreases (i.e. higher temperatures). We predict that there should be an interaction between temperature and level of certainty about current risk. With lower certainty about risk, the variation across temperature gradient will vary to a greater degree than when presented with a high certainty cue. For purposes of visualization, we present only the additive hypothesis

Figure 2. Latency (in minutes) to resume feeding response under control (N individuals= 75), acoustic (N individuals= 75), visual (N individuals= 74) and both (N individuals= 74) treatments are shown. The dots and solid lines represent the means, the boxes represent the 95% confidence intervals and the n values above the boxes are the number of observations.

Chapter 1: Visual cues of predation risk outweigh acoustic cues: a field experiment in blackcapped chickadees

1. Introduction

Animals have to balance the benefits of energy intake against the risk of predation while foraging [1]. This trade-off between the risk of mortality due to predation versus starvation is mediated by multiple factors [2, 3]. Conditions that place animals under greater energetic stress, such as lower temperature or shorter day length for diurnal animals, will tend to favour relatively higher investment in foraging [4, 5]. In contrast, ecological conditions that increase predation danger (e.g., environmental features that make predator attacks more likely to be successful, such as cover to conceal their approaching attack) will favour higher investment in predator avoidance [6]. Numerous empirical studies have shown that foragers are able to adaptively adjust their foraging behaviour in response to changing costs and benefits of foraging [7]. These observations raise the question: how do foragers evaluate food safety trade-offs? Food availability and quality can be assessed directly through encounters [8], but foragers must be able to assess predation danger indirectly because direct encounters with predators would presumably be too costly [9].

Indeed, prey from a range of taxa (e.g., insects [10], fish [11], reptiles [12], mammals [13], and birds [4, 14, 15]) have been shown to respond to a variety of cues indicating predator presence. In birds, experimental exposure to predator mounts [16, 17], predator calls [18], conspecifics calls (alarm calls or mobbing calls) [19], and predator chemical cues [20] have all been used to illicit anti-predator responses, indicating that each is perceived as a salient cue of current predation danger. However, while these cues have each been used extensively, it is unclear how, or even whether, combining multiple cues of predation, or cues across different

modalities (e.g., visual versus acoustic), alters anti-predator responses relative to the responses elicited by a single cue [21]. This is because studies have generally manipulated perceived predation risk using only a single cue of predation (e.g., visual only [6, 22] or acoustic only [23]). When studies do use multiple cues of predation danger, they typically provide multiple cues simultaneously to create a super-stimulus (e.g. visual and acoustic simultaneously [5, 24]) but do not contrast the response to multiple cues against the response to isolated cues. A small number of studies in birds have attempted to contrast two modalities of information about predation risk [25-30], but none of these allowed for assessment of how combining different modalities of information about predation risk alters the response to reate action of the food-safety trade-off because none of these experiments employed a full factorial design.

Different cues of predation risk could be expected to elicit different responses in foragers because they provide different qualities of information, such as different degrees of certainty regarding the current level of predation risk [26]. Foragers are expected to rely most strongly on the cue (or cues) that provides the greatest certainty about the threat [31]. For example, observation of a predator mounting an attack provides complete certainty that a predator is currently present [32] and would be expected to elicit a strong response. On the other hand, predator odour has a lasting presence in the environment in terrestrial systems, making it a potentially less valuable cue since it does not provide a high degree of certainty that the predator is still in the area [20, 33]. Mobbing calls could also be considered low certainty cues because they can be elicited as false alarms from conspecifics or heterospecifics under stress or by the presence of novel objects or even deceiving alarms to gain access to food [34, 35]. All else being equal, cues that provide less certainty about the current level of predation risk may be expected to elicit weaker responses compared with high certainty cues.

If cues that provide greater certainty about the current level of risk elicit stronger responses from foragers, how should foragers respond when multiple cues are presented? Following information theory [36] and the flag model [37, 38], the decision to respond to a cue or not will depend on the level of reliability of the cue in comparison to the level of uncertainty of the environment. The magnitude of response to a cue is expected to be correlated with the extent to which it reduces the uncertainty about the relevant environmental feature. If multiple cues contribute independently to the current assessment of predation risk, then providing two complementary cues should reduce uncertainty about current risk levels more compared to either cue on its own, and consequently, two complementary cues would be expected to elicit stronger responses than either cue alone (Figure 1A) [21, 39]. The extent of increase in response may be additive or synergistic depending on whether the relationship between risk assessment and antipredator response is linear, as well as how combining cues increases certainty about current risk. Alternatively, if foragers rely only on the higher certainty cue in their assessment of current predation risk, providing a secondary (lower certainty) cue would be expected to elicit the same response as the high certainty cue alone (i.e. redundant effect; Figure 1A) [21].

In addition, the way that foragers adjust their behaviour in relation to their degree of certainty about current predation risk may be mediated by energetic constraints. Information received through different modalities will act in combination with environmental gradients to shape optimal decision-making [21, 39]. Under conditions where foragers have a low probability of mortality due to starvation (e.g., high food availability, warm temperatures), foragers may show strong responses to cues of predation risk (e.g., long latency to resume feeding after detecting the cue) because the cost to mounting a strong response would be relatively low. However, under conditions of higher energetic constraint (e.g., low food availability, low

temperatures), foragers may not only exhibit weaker responses overall, but also discriminate more strongly based on the relative certainty associated with a given cue (Figure 1B) [21].

In this study, we investigated how multiple cues of predation danger interact to shape anti-predator responses in free-living black-capped chickadees (Poecile atricapillus). First, we tested how cues of predation risk, both independently and in combination, affect anti-predator and risk-taking behaviour in chickadees. We used latency to resume feeding as our measure of anti-predator/risk-taking behaviour; longer latencies equated to stronger anti-predator responses and lower risk-taking. We focused on two cues of predation risk with different degrees of certainty: a visual presentation of a merlin (Falco columbarius) (high certainty cue) and acoustic playbacks of conspecific mobbing calls in response to merlin (low certainty cue). Additionally, we tested whether greater energetic stress alters the way that chickadees value different sources of information about predation danger using average daily temperature as a proxy of energetic stress. During our study, ambient temperatures were always well below the thermoneutral zone of chickadees [40] such that lower temperatures corresponded to greater energetic constraint. We predicted that this environmental constraint would affect risk-taking behaviour such that the chickadees would resume feeding sooner when presented with low certainty cues as temperature decreases, i.e., their behaviour would be more strongly affected by more certain the risk of starvation than the uncertain risk of predation (Figure1B).

2. Material and Methods

(a) Study area

This study was carried out at the University of Alberta Botanic Garden in Devon (UABG), Alberta, Canada (53° 24' 27" N, 113° 45' 41" W, ESM Figure S1). The UABG is located 22 km SW of Edmonton and 6 km N of Devon within the Devon Dunes natural area. It is a 0.97 km² property with 0.32 km² of display gardens and 0.65 km² of native plant communities from the area, such as trees and ferns in the marshy areas, willow thickets (*Salix scouleriana*), and balsam poplar (*Populus balsamifera*) and jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) forest [41]. Temperature data used in this study was obtained from the Edmonton International Airport (YEG) weather station, located 10 km SE of the study site (Data provided by Alberta Agriculture and Forestry, ACIS https://agriculture.alberta.ca/acis).

(b) Study species

Black-capped chickadees (hereafter chickadees) are a common non-migratory bird distributed across North America. In winter, they form stable flocks that forage together and are communally vigilant for predators [42-44]. Flocks display a social hierarchy based on sex and age (males and older individuals hold higher ranks) [42, 43]. Despite seasonal acclimation to low temperatures [40, 44], chickadees face a high mortality rate during winter due to limited food availability and reduction in cover for protection from predators [42, 45]. Chickadees use a complex system of vocalizations to communicate within the flock about predation danger [17]. They are also common visitors to anthropogenically provided birdfeeders [43, 45].

A marked population of chickadees was established at the UABG beginning in autumn 2017. To do this, birds were caught using mistnets at feeders located throughout the study area (ESM Figure S1). We did not use mobbing call playbacks during catching, as is commonly done with chickadees [46], to avoid influencing the types of birds captured based on their responsiveness to playbacks. To avoid carry-over effects from capturing and handling, which could have affected birds during the experiments, we ended catching one week prior to the start of data collection, and no catching occurred during the experiments.

Upon capture, all birds that were not already marked were fitted with aluminium bands. Immediately after, two short standardized behavioural assays were carried out as part of another study (total duration < 4 minutes). Basic morphometric data was collected (e.g., tarsus, bill and wing length), body mass was recorded, and a small blood sample was taken from the brachial vein for molecular sexing [47]. All birds were fitted with a unique combination of colour bands to allow for visual recognition.

In total, 334 chickadees were captured prior to the experiment. As part of another study aimed to assess the effects of passive integrated transponder (PIT) tags and methods of PIT tag application, birds were randomly assigned to receive no PIT tag (N=112), a PIT tag attached to a colour band (N=141), or an implanted PIT tag subcutaneously (N=81). The experiment described henceforth relied on PIT tags to automatically register visits by birds to feeders. Preliminary tests revealed that PIT tags embedded in leg bands were read with 100% accuracy using our feeder setup (353 RFID registrations out of 353 video-recorded visits), but implanted PIT tags were not read (0 RFID registrations out of 204 video-recorded visits). The band-embedded PIT tags were 10 mm x 2mm, while the implanted PIT tags were 8 mm x 2 mm. The lack of readings from implanted PIT tags was the result of the implanted PIT tags having a much smaller detection radius due to their smaller size. Therefore, results presented below are only for birds with PIT tags embedded in leg bands.

(c) Experiment set-up and data collection

The experiment of perceived predation risk was performed between late November 2018 and early March 2019. We placed 8 feeders baited with black-oil sunflower seeds throughout the study area with at least 300 m distance between adjacent feeders (ESM Figure S1). The feeders were covered by a metal mesh that prevented access by small mammals and other passerines (pers. obs.). Additionally, the feeders were constructed with a hollow bottom covered in a 10 mm x 10 mm mesh. This allowed discarded seeds to pass through the mesh into the hollow bottom, preventing feeding from the ground instead of the feeder by subordinate birds (ESM Figure S2) [43]. Birds had to access the feeder opening to feed. At the beginning of October 2018, we placed antennas connected to radio frequency identification (RFID) readers with an internal clock in the feeders at the point of access to the seeds to register the time of visits and identity of all PIT-tagged birds that were using the feeders. We visited the feeders every 4 days to replace batteries and to collect the data that had been registered to SD cards in the feeder circuit boards. Battery and SD card exchanges were always carried out on non-experimental days to avoid creating disturbances associated with these visits that might affect our measured responses to the experimental treatments. Details of the protocol for data collection from SD cards and visits to the feeders during experimental days are provided in ESM Appendix S1.

To determine the effect of different cues of perceived predation danger, we carried out one-hour treatments using a 2 by 2 factorial design of two variables—visual cue present (yes/no) and acoustic cue present (yes/no)—that resulted in 4 levels of treatments: control (no visual and no acoustic cues of predation), acoustic only (acoustic), visual only (visual), and acoustic plus visual (acoustic+visual). The 4 different treatments were designed to simulate the presence of a predator in the natural setting as closely as possible. For the visual treatment, we used 6 different taxidermic mounts of juvenile merlins, each mounted on a base of wood that was attached to the top of the experimental pole (ESM Figure S2). We used merlins as the predator species in this experiment because they are present in the study area throughout the winter (based on records in the eBird digital repository (https://ebird.org/species/merlin) and personal observations), and they are known to prey on chickadees [48, 49]. The pole upon which the merlin mount was

placed was located 3 meters in front of the feeder, and we ensured the top of the pole was at the same level of the feeder and was facing the access to the seeds (ESM Figure S3). For the acoustic treatment, we used chickadee mobbing calls instead of predator calls because raptors, including merlin, seldom call during the winter, and they do not vocalize when mounting attacks. The chickadee mobbing calls used were recorded in another population (circa 40 km from this study population) in response to the same merlin mounts used in the present study. From these recordings, we created 8 unique, one-hour files which were made up of alternating sequences of mobbing calls (ranging from 5 to 20 seconds in length, repeated over one-minute periods) and bouts of silence (ranging from 60 to 180 seconds). The sequence files were played back using portable speakers (Shockwave, Foxpro, Lewistown, PA; ESM Figure S2) that were placed on the experimental poles during treatments (ESM Figure S3). Further details about the recordings are in ESM Appendix S2. The control treatments provided controls for all the non-biological components of our experimental treatments. The visual cue during the control treatment consisted only of the experimental pole, not the merlin mount. The control treatment for the acoustic treatment consisted only of the presence of the speaker, not the playback of the broadcasting alarm calls. The dates of each treatment for each feeder (including the order of the merlin mounts and sound files used) are provided in ESM Table S1.

Each experimental day we carried out all 4 levels of treatments (1 treatment level at 4 different feeders). Thus, 8 experimental days were required to carry out all 4 levels of treatment at all 8 feeders. A complete replicate consisted of one a set of all four treatments carried out at each of the 8 feeders. Treatment start times were circa 9:30, 11:00, 12:30, and 14:00. We randomly selected the feeders used on each experimental day, with the condition that no feeder was used more than once on any given day. The order of the treatments was randomized to avoid

confounding variables related to the time of day [4]. To minimize cumulative effects of our treatments, we only conducted treatments (experimental days) every second day during any given replicate, with at least 7 days break between successive replicates. We carried out 4 complete replicates of the experiment. A schematic representation of a replicate is provided in ESM Figure S4.

(d) Data selection and processing

For the analysis, we selected only individuals that were present at the feeders within an hour before the start of any treatment. This was done to ensure that birds included in our analyses had been present in the vicinity of the feeder during the 1-hour treatment period, and therefore, likely to have been exposed to the experimental treatment. We calculated the response variable for risktaking behaviour as latency to resume feeding (latency). Latency was defined as the time (in seconds) from the start of any treatment until the first return visit to the feeder on the same day. For the birds that did not return on the same day, we assigned them a maximum latency score equivalent to if they had returned at civil twilight (then end of the foraging period).

We recognize that the use of chickadee mobbing calls as an acoustic cue to manipulate perceived predation danger may have also manipulated perceived number of congeners in the area. Previous studies have demonstrated that chickadees can recognize other individuals and flocks by specific components of the calls [50]. Larger flocks may be less vulnerable to predators due to the increase of individuals that help with the vigilance task, allowing individuals to devote less time to vigilance and more time to feeding and/or may reduce individual vulnerability through dilution effects [7]. Additionally, larger flocks may induce greater perceived competition for food [51]. Thus, it is possible greater perceived safety or greater resume feeding. In this way, the perception of more congeners could mask treatment-related differences in the latency to resume feeding, making birds appear to have a similar response, when in reality it is not due to the certainty of the predation risk but rather the flock size effect negating a cue certainty effect. For these reasons, we also analysed how often birds were feeding once they resume feeding. Feeding rate was defined as the number of visits a bird performed within 5, 10 and 20 minutes after it had resumed feeding.

By contrasting the feeding rates after the return, we evaluated support for effects of increased safety or competition in the different treatments. In the case that birds perceived higher competition in the treatments with an acoustic cue, we would expect them to increase their feeding rate in comparison to treatments that did not have this apparent increase of individuals in the surroundings (e.g. treatments without acoustic cue). In the same way, if the birds perceived the additional individuals as an indication of increased safety, the feeding rates of treatments with acoustic cues should closely resemble the control treatment and be higher than the visual treatment. If the feeding rates are similar in all the treatments or follow the same pattern as the latency, then we interpret this as support for the conclusion that the degree of certainty about the level of danger is eliciting the feeding rate, see ESM Appendix S3.

(e) Statistical analysis

We used R version 3.6.0 for all statistical analyses [52]. We analysed the log transformed latency to resume feeding in seconds as a function of sex, temperature, treatment, and the interaction of treatment and temperature as fixed effects. Treatment was coded with four levels: Control, Acoustic, Visual, and Acoustic+Visual. This was done to facilitate the interpretation of the models' outputs of treatments and their interactions with temperature. The average daily

temperature was centred and standardized. By centring our temperature variable, model estimates (other than temperature) reflect estimated effects for the average temperature during our study (-11.15 °C). By standardizing the average daily temperature, the estimated effect of temperature reflects the effect of 1 SD in temperature on our response variable, facilitating comparison with other fixed effects in our models. Bird identity (79 levels), and feeder number (eight levels) were included as random effects to account for non-independence at these levels. We constructed a linear mixed effects model (LMM) with a Gaussian error distribution using the R package lme4 [53]. Effect sizes were calculated based on 1000 simulations using "sim" function to obtain values of a posterior distribution of the model. We used Markov chain Monte Carlo to get the effect size (β) using kernel density estimation and 95% confidence intervals (CI) with the R package MCMCglmm [54]. Using the posterior distribution, we considered a strong effect to occur when the 95% CI was not overlapping between estimates. In comparison to a frequentist perspective, when the 95% CI is not overlapping zero or overlapping between estimates, it is approximately equivalent to a significant p-value (p < 0.05). However, if the estimates and 95% CI are biased away from zero, we consider that there was "moderate support" for an effect. This form of interpretation allows us to avoid a dichotomous interpretation of the results that can show a continuous range of support for a given interpretation.

We ran two different models for latency to resume feeding. The first model included only the observations from birds that were present before the experiment and returned at any point within the same day (N = 951 observations). The second included all observations of individuals that were present before the start of the experiment regardless of whether they returned to the feeder after the treatment occurred (N = 58 additional cases). Both models were qualitatively and quantitatively similar (ESM Table S2). Therefore, we present only the results for the model

including birds that did return within the same day in the main text. We did not include merlin mount identities or mobbing call sequence numbers as they were assigned randomly for all the experiment; we assumed they did not affect the estimates of the other variables and we were not interested in measuring the effect of these variables in this study. Finally, we calculated the adjusted repeatability of latency for individuals following Nakagawa and Schielzeth [55].

We ran three different models for feeding rate in the same way we as we did for latency to resume feeding, the only difference being the response variable. Because we did not know what time interval would be best for assessing post-treatment foraging rates, we calculated feeding rate over three different time intervals 5, 10 and 20 minutes. All three models were qualitatively and quantitatively similar (ESM Table S3) indicating that our results are robust to different arbitrary time interval choices. We discuss only the results for the model that included the feeding rate after 20 minutes in the main text. For visualization purposes, all the results presented in the figures are illustrate model predictions from the 1000 simulations (not logtransformed) in minutes (min), but all the analyses were performed with log-transformed data (for both latency to resume feeding and count of visits).

3. Results

A total of 79 individuals (47 males, 32 females) were registered at the feeders on experimental days, with each bird present for an average of 13 experimental trials (range 1 to 23 out of 16 total trials per feeder). Analyses of latency to resume feeding as a function of our four treatment levels showed that chickadees responded differently to visual versus acoustic cues (Table 1). After exposure to the control treatment, the average latency to resume feeding was 19.78 ± 1.67 min (mean \pm s.e.) (range: 0.70 to 221 min). All treatments with cues of predation danger resulted in

significantly longer latencies to resume feeding relative to the control. Following the acoustic treatment, the average latency was 35.94 ± 4.12 min (range: 0.50 to 370 min), and for the visual treatment the average was 53.11 ± 3.24 min (range: 0.37 to 291 min). For the combined acoustic+visual treatment, the average latency was 50.10 ± 2.86 min (range: 0.67 to 206 min). There was strong support for the interpretation that latency to resume feeding was longer following a visual compared to an acoustic treatment ($\beta = 0.98$; 95% CI = 0.73, 1.15); there was moderate support that a difference existed between the control and acoustic treatment ($\beta = 0.20$; 95% CI = -0.01, 0.38); and no support that indicated a difference between the visual and acoustic+visual treatment ($\beta = 0.06$; 95% CI = -0.07, 0.35; Table 1, Figure 2). After accounting for treatment effects, a significant proportion of the total variance could be attributed to individual identity (r=0.21; 95%CI = 0.17, 0.25; Table 1).

Over the course of the experiments, average daily temperature ranged from -29.65 to 1.18° C (mean ± s.e.; -11.15 ± 1.49). The latency to resume feeding showed a positive correlation with increasing temperature during the control ($\beta = 0.27$; 95% CI = 0.08, 0.37), acoustic ($\beta = 0.22$; 95% CI = 0.08, 0.37), and acoustic+visual treatments ($\beta = 0.23$; 95% CI = 0.07, 0.38). However, there was no relationship between the temperature and the latency in the visual treatment, with the slope being nearly linear with a tendency towards a positive correlation but different from the other treatments ($\beta = 0.07$; 95% CI = -0.07, 0.22; Table1, Figure 3).

The feeding rate after 20 minutes of resuming feeding showed similar trends regardless of the treatment, though it was slightly higher following the control treatment, with 6.54 ± 0.23 visits (range: 1 to 19), compared to the increased perceived-predator treatments. For the acoustic treatment, the feeding rate was 5.59 ± 0.21 visits (range: 1 to 23); for the visual treatment, 6.07 ± 0.24 visits (range: 1 to 18); and finally for the acoustic+visual treatment 6.03 ± 0.23 visits

(range: 1 to 18). There was strong support from the model for a difference in feeding rate between the control treatment and the acoustic ($\beta = -0.16$; 95% CI = -0.27, -0.06) and visual treatments ($\beta = -0.13$; 95% CI = -0.24, -0.01), with chickadees having higher feeding rates following the control. There was moderate support for the interpretation that chickadees also fed at lower rates following the combined visual-acoustic treatment compared to the control ($\beta = -$ 0.10; 95% CI = -0.20, 0.01). Importantly, there was no support for treatment related differences in feeding rates between any of the three treatments including cues of predation; between the acoustic and visual treatments ($\beta = 0.05$; 95% CI = -0.07, 0.16), between acoustic and the acoustic+visual treatments ($\beta = 0.01$; 95% CI = -0.03, 0.19), and between visual and the acoustic+visual treatments ($\beta = 0.01$; 95% CI = -0.09, 0.13; Table 1, Figure 4).

Feeding rates showed a negative relationship with temperatures for the acoustic ($\beta = -0.09$; 95% CI = -0.19, -0.03) and the visual treatments ($\beta = -0.06$; 95% CI = -0.16, 0.00). Both the control treatment ($\beta = 0.00$; 95% CI = -0.08, 0.08) and the acoustic+visual treatment ($\beta = 0.01$; 95% CI = -0.08, 0.10) showed a linear response to temperature, meaning that the feeding rate did not vary as the temperature increased. All of the different treatments fluctuated within the same range of feeding rates regardless of the treatment in relation to the temperature (Table 1, Figure 5).

4. Discussion

We studied how multiple cues about predation danger influence foraging decisions in blackcapped chickadees. Our study showed that chickadees responded to cues of predation danger by delaying foraging, and they responded more strongly to visual cues compared with acoustic cues. When presented together, providing acoustic cues of predation in addition to visual cues produced the same response as to visual cues alone. These responses were also modulated by energetic stress as inferred by average daily ambient temperature. As predicted, latency to resume feeding was longer under more benign conditions, and treatment-related differences in anti-predator response were strongest under the most challenging conditions (i.e., at the lowest temperature). Below, we discuss our results in the context of cue certainty.

On average, chickadees delayed feeding 47% longer when exposed to a visual cue of predation compared with an acoustic cue. When both cues were provided together, chickadees showed the same response as when given the visual cue alone. Taken together, these results are consistent with the notion that chickadees value high certainty cues (in this case the visual cue) more strongly than low certainty cues (in this case the acoustic cue) when making foraging decisions, and further, that combining a high certainty cue with a low certainty cue provides no greater response compared with the high certainty cue alone. The redundant effect may have happened because the high level of certainty provided by a visual confirmation of a predator in the surrounding area was not affected by the addition of an acoustic cue (Figure 1A and Figure 2). Our results suggest that chickadees were willing to pay a cost (e.g., of feeding uncertainty, depleting cache moving off territory, etc.) when there was a high certainty cue of predator presence (i.e. visual cue).

Because we conducted a field experiment in free-living chickadees, our focal birds experienced non-experimental cues of predation risk over the course of the experiment, which may also explain the observed "redundant" effect. Specifically, when presenting the visual cue alone, local chickadees produced mobbing calls (personal observation), which might have modified the effect of a visual cue in isolation. However, even with local chickadees producing mobbing calls when presented with a merlin mount, the intensity of mobbing calls would have differed between the visual and the acoustic+ visual treatments. Thus, our result still implies that the additional information provided by the acoustic playbacks of mobbing calls (in addition to mobbing by birds present in the study area), had no further effect on latency to resume feeding.

Alternatively, this population of chickadees may be less responsive to mobbing calls due to the high degree of human disturbance present in the botanic garden. If chickadees regularly produce mobbing calls in response to human visitors at the garden, their overall responsiveness to mobbing calls may be lower due to chronic exposure [56]. However, we find this unlikely because chickadees are known to exhibit syntax in their alarm calls, with the number of "dee" notes increasing with increasing predator threat [17]. We specifically used mobbing/alarm call sequences produced in response to merlin mounts, and therefore, would expect chickadees to be responsive to such calls even if the chickadees from our study population have become habituated to mobbing calls produced in response to humans.

Another interpretation of the apparent redundant effect of the acoustic cue when presented with a visual cue is that it may have altered the chickadees perception of individual risk and/or food competition. By presenting an acoustic signal from another flock, it is possible that the chickadees perceived a greater number of birds in the surrounding area. By increasing the perceived number of birds in the surrounding area, chickadees may have perceived greater local resource competition, causing them to resume feeding more quickly [51]. Alternatively, increasing the perceived number of conspecifics may have resulted in dilution of perceived risk, which would also favour a faster return to the feeder [57].

If chickadees perceived an increase in competition when presented with playbacks of mobbing calls [51], then feeding rates would have been higher in both treatments that included an acoustic cue compared to the treatments without an acoustic cue. If, on the other hand, perceived safety was being affected [7], we would expect the feeding rates following treatments that included acoustic cues to be similar to feeding rates following the control treatment. This finding suggests that chickadees were not affected in their perception of safety or conspecific competition by using mobbing calls from different flocks. When taking into consideration the feeding rate after the birds resumed feeding, the response to acoustic and visual cues in isolation or combined were similar and were always lower compared to the control (Figure 4). This suggests that the redundant effect observed in the latency was not due to increased perceived safety and/or competition because of playbacks from chickadees from other population.

We also observed that temperature had a positive relationship with latency to resume feeding. The latency to resume feeding was shorter at lower temperatures than at higher temperatures as expected given the increased energetic demands chickadees face with decreasing temperature [21, 58, 59]. However, this pattern was not observed in the visual treatment. During the visual treatment, chickadees had a constant latency to resume feeding across all temperatures experienced during these experiments. These results matched the prediction that high certainty cues (i.e. visual) induce smaller variation in the latency to resume feeding than low certainty cues (i.e. acoustic), as a function of temperature (Figure 1B and Figure 3) [37, 38]. However, contrary to our prediction that acoustic cues provide redundant information to visual cues, chickadees did adjust their latency to resume feeding in response to the acoustic+visual treatment as a function of temperature in the same way as they did to the acoustic cue alone. Yet, the response level was closer to that of the visual cue in isolation. This suggests that (1) acoustic cues might have an interaction effect, either alone or combined with other cues, between the response of latency and the temperature that differs from the seemingly constant response to a visual cue through the range of temperatures, and (2) a redundancy effect might be affected by different environmental constraints.

Although not the focus of the current study, we also observed large among-individual differences in the latency to resume feeding (r = 0.2195% CI = 0.17, 0.25; Table 1). In other words, individuals showed repeatable variation in their latency to resume feeding, controlling for treatment. The observed differences in latency to resume feeding between the fastest returning individuals and the slowest returning individuals was approximately 80 minutes, which represents approximately 15% of the foraging day for chickadees at this latitude during winter, a biologically important difference. We observed a similar level of among-individual differences in feeding rates (r = 0.1895% CI = 0.15, 0.22; Table 1), showing that some individuals came more often than others; the most frequently feeding individual came up to approximately 5 times more often that the least frequently feeding individual. The extent of repeatable amongindividual variation observed in this study was relatively high compared with two previous studies in great tits. In one, the repeatability of latency to resume feeding after predator exposure was r=0.06 [5] and in the other, the repeatability of the proportion of time spent feeding in safe or risky conditions was r=0.05 [60]. The relatively high degree of repeatable among-individual differences in risk-taking observed in our experiment may be due to the fact that chickadees have strong and stable social hierarchies compared with great tits, and social rank is known to affect foraging behaviour, including risk-taking, in a range of passerines [61]. Assessing this possibility would require data on the social rank of individuals, which is not currently available in this population of chickadees. Previous studies have shown that the subordinate individuals are more likely to resume feeding faster under a social pressure context [62-64], so we would expect that the repeatability of this population was driven by subordinate individuals having short latencies compared to dominant individuals.

Understanding how organisms combine multiple sources of information in decisionmaking has application beyond understanding foraging decisions. For example, mate choice decisions can be based on a combination of visual (e.g., plumage, mating displays) and acoustic (e.g., song) cues, and both types of cues are often considered simultaneously [65-67]. Understanding the types of conditions that lead to redundant, additive or synergistic effects will allow for a more holistic understanding of uncertainty management in animal decision-making. We found some support for the notion that mobbing calls provide redundant information to that provided by the observed presence of a predator (the response to acoustic was lower than visual, and acoustic+visual was similar to visual). These results are consistent with the flag model [37, 38], in which the level of certainty of a cue determines the likelihood of the response to the cue. In our results, a more reliable cue—the visual cue—elicited a higher response than a less reliable cue-the acoustic cue. However, when considering how these responses were modulated by energetic constraints, the response to acoustic+visual treatment was qualitatively similar to the acoustic treatment, not the visual treatment. At the same time, in average values, the latency to resume feeding after acoustic+visual treatment was more similar to that of the visual treatment, not the acoustic. We were able to test how different modalities of information that provided various levels of certainty can generate different responses to resume feeding after an initial increase in perceived predation and the possible interactions that acoustic and visual cues might have in this organism and system. Nevertheless, these results were only visible as the overall result of the treatments at the average temperature. The mechanisms underlying these interactions with energetic constraints are unclear, and future theoretical and empirical work is needed to reveal and understand how multiple cues play a role in anti-predator foraging behaviour. Besides replicating this experiment in coming years, it could be useful to increase the

amount of variation of the level of certainty of risk provided by the visual and acoustic cues. Different degrees of risk from visual [27] and acoustic cues [68] would give a better understanding about the effect of information on the anti-predator response.

Tables and Figures

Table 1. LMM model results for latency to resume feeding (LRF) and feeding rate (FR) within 20 minutes after return to the feeder. Both models included only those birds that returned to the feeder on the same day of the treatment.

	LMM Log (LRF seconds)	LMM Log (FR 20min)
	real visits	after return
Fixed Effects	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)
Sex ^a	0.11 (-0.25, 0.34)	-0.18 (-0.34, -0.06)
Treatment		
Control	6.42 (6.11, 6.80)	1.66 (1.54, 1.77)
Acoustic	6.58 (6.27, 6.97)	1.49 (1.37, 1.60)
Visual	7.62 (7.22, 7.90)	1.53 (1.43, 1.66)
Both	7.41 (7.09, 7.81)	1.57 (1.45, 1.69)
Temperature ^b		
Temp. by Control	0.27 (0.08, 0.37)	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)
Temp. by Acoustic	0.22 (0.08, 0.37)	-0.09 (-0.19, -0.03)
Temp. by Visual	0.07 (-0.07, 0.22)	-0.06 (-0.16, 0.00)
Temp. by Acoustic+Visual	0.23 (0.07, 0.38)	0.01 (-0.08, 0.10)
Random Effects	σ (95% CI)	σ (95% CI)
Individual N=79	0.32 (0.25, 0.41)	0.06 (0.05, 0.08)
Feeders N=8	0.18 (0.08, 0.35)	0.00 (0.00, 0.01)
Residual N=951	1.25 (1.14, 1.37)	0.38 (0.35, 0.42)
Repeatability ^c	r (95% CI)	r (95% CI)
Individuals	0.21 (0.17, 0.25)	0.14 (0.11, 0.18)

^a: Intercept was calculated using centred Sex as males -0.5 and females 0.5

^b: Mean daily temperature, grand mean centred and divided by 2 SD.

^c: Adjusted repeatability estimated after taking in account fixed effects.



Figure 1. Graphical representation of alternative hypotheses for how multiple sources of information (cues) affect assessment of current predation risk. Cues that provide greater certainty about current risk (e.g., observation of predator) are predicted to elicit stronger responses (measured as foraging interruption or latency to resume feeding, latency) than cues that provide lower certainty about current risk (e.g., conspecific mobbing calls, predator odour). Panel (A) illustrates three scenarios depicting how multiple cues are used to assess risk. The square illustrates a scenario where multiple cues provide independent certainty about current risk levels, thereby creating an additive effect. The triangle illustrates a scenario where multiple cues provide independent certainty about current risk levels and interact with each other, increasing the magnitude of the response. The diamond illustrates a scenario where cues are redundant and multiple cues elicit a response equal to the higher

certainty cue when presented alone. Panel (B) illustrates the predicted interaction between environmental conditions and certainty about current predation danger. Overall, latency is expected to be lower under conditions that increase the probability of mortality due to starvation (i.e., lower temperatures) and higher when the probability of mortality decreases (i.e. higher temperatures). We predict that there should be an interaction between temperature and level of certainty about current risk. With lower certainty about risk, the variation across temperature gradient will vary to a greater degree than when presented with a high certainty cue. For purposes of visualization, we present only the additive hypothesis for the effect of combined cues in interaction with temperature.



Figure 2. Latency (in minutes) to resume feeding predicted response from the model under control (N individuals= 75), acoustic (N individuals= 75), visual (N individuals= 74) and both (N individuals= 74) treatments are shown. The dots and solid lines represent the means, the boxes represent the 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and the n values above the boxes are the number of observations.



Figure 3. Prediction of the model for latency to resume feeding measured in minutes in response to the average daily temperature under different treatments from the model results. The lines represent the regression of different treatments of cues about predator presence as a function of temperature. The grey areas represent the 95% confidence intervals (CIs).



Figure 4. Feeding rate within 20 minutes after resuming feeding predicted from the model under control (N individuals= 75), acoustic (N individuals= 75), visual (N individuals= 74) and both (N individuals= 74) treatments are shown. The dots and solid lines represent the means, the boxes represent the 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and the n values above the boxes are the number of observations.


Figure 5. Prediction of the model for feeding rate within 20 minutes after resuming feeding in response to the average daily temperature under different treatments from the model results. The lines represent the regression of different treatments of cues about predator presence as a function of temperature. The grey areas represent the 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

References

[1] Bednekoff, P.A. 2007 Foraging in the face of danger. In Foraging: Behavior and ecology

(eds. D.W. Stephens, J.S. Brown & R.C. Ydenberg), p. 305, University of Chicago Press.

[2] Dingemanse, N.J., Kazem, A.J., Reale, D. & Wright, J. 2010 Behavioural reaction norms: animal personality meets individual plasticity. Trends Ecol Evol 25, 81-89.

(doi:10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.013).

[3] Sih, A., Mathot, K.J., Moiron, M., Montiglio, P.O., Wolf, M. & Dingemanse, N.J. 2015
 Animal personality and state-behaviour feedbacks: a review and guide for empiricists. Trends
 Ecol Evol 30, 50-60. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2014.11.004).

[4] Bonter, D.N., Zuckerberg, B., Sedgwick, C.W. & Hochachka, W.M. 2013 Daily foraging patterns in free-living birds: exploring the predation-starvation trade-off. Proc Biol Sci 280, 20123087. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.3087).

[5] Mathot, K.J., Nicolaus, M., Araya-Ajoy, Y.G., Dingemanse, N.J., Kempenaers, B. & Grémillet, D. 2015 Does metabolic rate predict risk-taking behaviour? A field experiment in a wild passerine bird. Funct Ecol 29, 239-249. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12318).

[6] Eggers, S., Griesser, M. & Ekman, J. 2008 Predator-induced reductions in nest visitation rates are modified by forest cover and food availability. Behavioral Ecology 19, 1056-1062. (doi:10.1093/beheco/arn063).

[7] Lima, S.L. & Dill, L.M. 1990 Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology 68, 619-640. (doi:10.1139/z90-092).

[8] Holmes, R.T. & Schultz, J.C. 1988 Food availability for forest birds: effects of prey distribution and abundance on bird foraging. Canadian Journal of Zoology 66, 720-728.
 (doi:10.1139/z88-107).

[9] Creel, S. & Christianson, D. 2008 Relationships between direct predation and risk effects. Trends Ecol Evol 23, 194-201. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.12.004).

[10] Jandt, J.M., Bengston, S., Pinter-Wollman, N., Pruitt, J.N., Raine, N.E., Dornhaus, A. & Sih, A. 2014 Behavioural syndromes and social insects: personality at multiple levels. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 89, 48-67. (doi:10.1111/brv.12042).

[11] Bell, A.M. & Sih, A. 2007 Exposure to predation generates personality in threespined sticklebacks (Gasterosteus aculeatus). Ecol Lett 10, 828-834. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01081.x).

[12] Lapiedra, O., Schoener, T.W., Leal, M., Losos, J.B. & Kolbe, J.J. 2018 Predator-driven natural selection on risk-taking behavior in anole lizards. Science 360, 1017-1020.(doi:10.1126/science.aap9289).

[13] Nersesian, C.L., Banks, P.B. & McArthur, C. 2012 Behavioural responses to indirect and direct predator cues by a mammalian herbivore, the common brushtail possum. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 66, 47-55. (doi:10.1007/s00265-011-1250-y).

[14] Mathot, K.J., Abbey-Lee, R.N., Kempenaers, B. & Dingemanse, N.J. 2016 Do great tits
(Parus major) suppress basal metabolic rate in response to increased perceived predation danger?
A field experiment. Physiol Behav 164, 400-406. (doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.06.029).
[15] Martinez, A.E., Gomez, J.P., Ponciano, J.M. & Robinson, S.K. 2016 Functional traits,

flocking propensity, and perceived predation risk in an amazonian understory bird community. Am Nat 187, 607-619. (doi:10.1086/685894).

[16] Mathot, K.J., van den Hout, P.J. & Piersma, T. 2009 Differential responses of red knots,
Calidris canutus, to perching and flying sparrowhawk, Accipiter nisus, models. Animal
Behaviour 77, 1179-1185. (doi:10.1016/j.anbehav.2009.01.024).

[17] Templeton, C.N., Greene, E. & Davis, K. 2005 Allometry of alarm calls: black-capped chickadees encode information about predator size. Science 308, 1934-1937.

(doi:10.1126/science.1108841).

[18] Zanette, L.Y., White, A.F., Allen, M.C. & Clinchy, M. 2011 Perceived predation risk reduces the number of offspring songbirds produce per year. Science 334, 1398-1401.(doi:10.1126/science.1210908).

[19] Abbey-Lee, R.N., Mathot, K.J. & Dingemanse, N.J. 2016 Behavioral and morphological responses to perceived predation risk: a field experiment in passerines. Behav Ecol 27, 857-864.(doi:10.1093/beheco/arv228).

[20] Eichholz, M.W., Dassow, J.A., Stafford, J.D. & Weatherhead, P.J. 2012 Experimental evidence that nesting ducks use mammalian urine to assess predator abundance. The Auk 129, 638-644. (doi:10.1525/auk.2012.12040).

[21] Weissburg, M., Smee, D.L. & Ferner, M.C. 2014 The sensory ecology of nonconsumptive predator effects. Am Nat 184, 141-157. (doi:10.1086/676644).

[22] Fransson, T. & Weber, T.P. 1997 Migratory fuelling in blackcaps (Sylvia atricapilla) under perceived risk of predation. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 41, 75-80. (doi:DOI 10.1007/s002650050366).

[23] Akçay, Ç., Clay, A., Campbell, S.E. & Beecher, M.D. 2016 The sparrow and the hawk: aggressive signaling under risk of predation. Behav Ecol 27, 601-607.

(doi:10.1093/beheco/arv196).

[24] Peluc, S.I., Sillett, T.S., Rotenberry, J.T. & Ghalambor, C.K. 2008 Adaptive phenotypic plasticity in an island songbird exposed to a novel predation risk. Behav. Ecol. 19, 830-835.(doi:10.1093/beheco/arn033).

[25] Courter, J.R. & Ritchison, G. 2010 Alarm calls of tufted titmice convey information about predator size and threat. Behavioral Ecology 21, 936-942. (doi:10.1093/beheco/arq086).

[26] Lind, J., Jongren, F., Nilsson, J., Alm, D.S. & Strandmark, A. 2005 Information, predation risk and foraging decisions during mobbing in Great Tits Parus major. Ornis Fennica 82, 89-96.
[27] Carlson, N.V., Pargeter, H.M. & Templeton, C.N. 2017 Sparrowhawk movement, calling, and presence of dead conspecifics differentially impact blue tit (Cyanistes caeruleus) vocal and behavioral mobbing responses. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 71, 133. (doi:10.1007/s00265-017-2361-x).

[28] McLachlan, J.R., Ratnayake, C.P. & Magrath, R.D. 2019 Personal information about danger trumps social information from avian alarm calls. Proc Biol Sci 286, 20182945.(doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.2945).

[29] van der Veen, I. 2002 Seeing is believing: information about predators influences yellowhammer behavior. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 51, 466-471.

(doi:10.1007/s00265-002-0464-4).

[30] Hetrick, S.A. & Sieving, K.E. 2012 Antipredator calls of tufted titmice and interspecific transfer of encoded threat information. Behav Ecol 23, 83-92. (doi:10.1093/beheco/arr160).

[31] Lima, S. & Steury, T. 2005 Perception of predation risk: the foundation of nonlethal predator–prey interactions. In Ecology of predator–prey interactions (pp. 166-188.

[32] Fransson, T. & Weber, T.P. 1997 Migratory fuelling in blackcaps (Sylvia atricapilla) under perceived risk of predation. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 41, 75-80.

(doi:10.1007/s002650050366).

[33] Amo, L., Visser, M.E. & Oers, K.v. 2011 Smelling out predators is innate in birds. Ardea99, 177-184. (doi:10.5253/078.099.0207).

[34] Munn, C.A. 1986 Birds that 'cry wolf'. Nature 319, 143-145. (doi:10.1038/319143a0).

[35] Møller, A.P. 2010 False alarm calls as a means of resource usurpation in the Great Tit Parus major. Ethology 79, 25-30. (doi:10.1111/j.1439-0310.1988.tb00697.x).

[36] Shannon, C.E. 1948 A mathematical theory of communication. Bell system technical journal 27, 379-423.

[37] Stephens, D.W. & Dunlap, A.S. 2009 Why do animals make better choices in patch-leaving problems? 80, 252-260. (doi:10.1016/j.beproc.2008.11.014).

[38] McLinn, C.M. & Stephens, D.W. 2006 What makes information valuable: signal reliability and environmental uncertainty. 71, 1119-1129. (doi:10.1016/j.anbehav.2005.09.006).

[39] Jakulin, A. & Bratko, I. 2003 Quantifying and visualizing attribute interactions: An approach based on entropy. Journal of Machine Learning Research.

[40] Chaplin, S.B. 1974 Daily energetics of the black-capped chickadee, Parus atricapillus, in winter. Journal of Comparative Physiology 89, 321-330. (doi:10.1007/bf00695350).

[41] University of Alberta. 2015 Devonian botanic garden sector plan. (

[42] Smith, S.M. 1967 Seasonal changes in the survival of the black-capped chickadee. The Condor 69, 344-359.

[43] Ficken, M.S., Weise, C.M. & Popp, J.W. 1990 Dominance rank and resource access in winter flocks of black-capped chickadees. Wilson Bull 102, 623-633.

[44] Cooper, S.J. & Swanson, D.L. 1994 Seasonal acclimatization of thermoegulation in the black-capped chickadee. The Condor 96, 638-646.

[45] Lima, S.L. 1985 Maximizing feeding efficiency and minimizing time exposed to predators: a trade-off in the black-capped chickadee. Oecologia 66, 60-67. (doi:10.1007/BF00378552).

[46] Phillmore, L.S., Veysey, A.S. & Roach, S.P. 2011 Zenk expression in auditory regions changes with breeding condition in male Black-capped chickadees (Poecile atricapillus). Behav Brain Res 225, 464-472. (doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.08.004).

[47] Griffiths, R., Double, M.C., Orr, K. & Dawson, R.J.G. 1998 A DNA test to sex most birds.Molecular Ecology 7, 1071-1075. (doi:10.1046/j.1365-294x.1998.00389.x).

[48] Doolittle, T. & Balding, T. 1995 A survey for the eastern Taiga Merlin (Falco columbarius) in northern Minnesota, Wisconsin, and Michigan. The Passenger Pigeon 57, 31-36.

[49] Sullivan, B.L., Wood, C.L., Iliff, M.J., Bonney, R.E., Fink, D. & Kelling, S. 2009 eBird: A citizen-based bird observation network in the biological sciences. Biol Conserv 142, 2282-2292.
(doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2009.05.006).

[50] Nowicki, S. 1983 Flock-specific recognition of chickadee calls. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 12, 317-320.

[51] Desrochers, A. & Hannon, S.J. 1989 Site-related dominance and spacing among winter flocks of black-capped chickadees. The Condor 91, 317. (doi:10.2307/1368309).

[52] R Core Team. 2019 R: A language and environment for statistical computing. (Vienna, Austria, R Foundation for Statistical Computing.

[53] Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B. & Walker, S. 2014 Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. arXiv preprint arXiv:1406.5823.

[54] Hadfield, J.D. 2010 MCMC methods for multi-response generalized linear mixed models: the MCMCglmm R package. Journal of Statistical Software 33, 1-22.

[55] Nakagawa, S. & Schielzeth, H. 2010 Repeatability for Gaussian and non-Gaussian data: a practical guide for biologists. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 85, 935-956. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00141.x). [56] 2012 Attitudes and actions toward birds in urban areas: Human cultural differences influence bird behavior. The Auk 129, 8-16. (doi:10.1525/auk.2011.11121).

[57] Beauchamp, G. 2017 Disentangling the various mechanisms that account for the decline in vigilance with group size. Behav Processes 136, 59-63. (doi:10.1016/j.beproc.2017.01.014).
[58] Moiron, M., Mathot, K.J. & Dingemanse, N.J. 2018 To eat and not be eaten: diurnal mass gain and foraging strategies in wintering great tits. Proc Biol Sci 285, 20172868.
(doi:10.1098/rspb.2017.2868).

[59] Smith, D.C. & Van Buskirk, J. 1988 Winter territoriality and flock cohesion in the blackcapped chickadee Parus atricapillus. Animal Behaviour 36, 466-476. (doi:10.1016/s0003-3472(88)80017-4).

[60] Quinn, J.L., Cole, E.F., Bates, J., Payne, R.W. & Cresswell, W. 2012 Personality predicts individual responsiveness to the risks of starvation and predation. 279, 1919-1926.(doi:10.1098/rspb.2011.2227).

[61] Dall, S.R.X. 2010 Managing risk: the perils of uncertainty. In Evolutionary Behavioral Ecology (eds. D.F. Westneat & C.W. Fox), pp. 194-206. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
[62] Harcourt, J.L., Ang, T.Z., Sweetman, G., Johnstone, R.A. & Manica, A. 2009 Social Feedback and the Emergence of Leaders and Followers. Current Biology 19, 248-252.
(doi:10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.051).

[63] Rands, S.A., Cowlishaw, G., Pettifor, R.A., Rowcliffe, J.M. & Johnstone, R.A. 2003Spontaneous emergence of leaders and followers in foraging pairs. Nature 423, 432-434.(doi:10.1038/nature01630).

[64] Rands, S.A., Cowlishaw, G., Pettifor, R.A., Rowcliffe, J.M. & Johnstone, R.A. 2008 The emergence of leaders and followers in foraging pairs when the qualities of individuals differ.BMC Evolutionary Biology 8, 51. (doi:10.1186/1471-2148-8-51).

[65] Balsby, T.J.S. & Dabelsteen, T. 2002 Female behaviour affects male courtship in whitethroats, Sylvia communis: an interactive experiment using visual and acoustic cues. 63, 251-257. (doi:10.1006/anbe.2001.1920).

[66] Gonzalez-Voyer, A., Den Tex, R.J., Castelló, A. & Leonard, J.A. 2013 Evolution of acoustic and visual signals in Asian barbets. 26, 647-659. (doi:10.1111/jeb.12084).

[67] Jennions, M.D. & Petrie, M. 1997 Variation in mate choice and mating preferences: a review of causes and consequences. Biol. Rev. 72, 283-327. (doi:10.1017/S0006323196005014).
[68] Landsborough, B., Wilson, D.R. & Mennill, D.J. 2019 Variation in chick-a-dee call sequences, not in the fine structure of chick-a-dee calls, influences mobbing behaviour in mixed-species flocks. Behav Ecol. (doi:10.1093/beheco/arz155).

Appendixes and supplementary material

Appendix S1. Change of batteries and Data processing of SD cards from RFID antennas During visits to the feeder, we used a transponder PIT tag assigned to each field technician to register the exact time of arrival to change the battery of the antenna. We made sure to record in a notebook the exact time at which we used the tag. We confirmed that the antenna was working and with sufficient battery by observing a red light flash on in the antenna when it recorded the tag. This tag recording was referred as "End" time because it was signifying the end of a recording period.

Once this was confirmed, we ejected and reinserted the SD from the antenna to save all the data collected by the antenna onto the SD card. Then, we ejected the SD and proceeded to replace it with an empty SD card. After that, we proceeded to change the battery of the antenna by unplugging the extension to the external battery and replacing the current battery with a fully charged battery.

Once the battery was changed, we confirmed that the antenna was working normally by recording another tag reading and getting a visual confirmation with the red light. This record was referred to as the "Start" time because it was signifying the start of a recording period.

This procedure was replicated when the experimental trials were performed. There was recording of a tag upon arrival, another tag recorded as the fake predator presence started, another tag at the end of the trial, and finally a tag recorded at the moment that we left the feeder in which the trial was performed. This was to record the exact among of time from human influence at the feeder.

36

All the information of the visits was stored in a .txt file that was processed by copying the information into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet so that we could split the information about date, time, and individual visitation.

By subtracting the time manually recorded using the personal tags from the time recorded by the antenna, we calculated the exact difference of the antenna's internal clock with real time. Always for each independent SD card, we calculated the time drifting by comparing the "Start" time of tag to the "End" time of the tags. This difference was not greater than a minute at any point over the 4-day period between visits, hence why there was no need to adjust the times recorded by the antennas. In one case, the data at one of the feeders was not collected for a period of 4 days due to failure of the battery connection; this event was excluded from the analysis.

With the data of the visits properly extracted, we were able to calculate the inter-visits intervals of each individual to each feeder for every day the experiment was done. This was done by determining the difference in time between two recorded visits to the antenna.

Appendix S2. Mobbing calls preparation

Process to obtain and clean the sounds used in the playlist for the experiments. Link to access the sound files and sequences.

In order to get the BCCH mobbing calls, we replicated the V treatment in another BCCH population. We presented the 6 merlin mounts at 3 m of distance from sunflower seed feeders previously installed in Emily Murphy Park (53° 31' 50" N 113° 31' 35" W) and Hawrelak Park (53° 31' 43" N 113° 32' 53" W), Edmonton, Alberta, that belong to another study [1]. In February 2018, we presented each of the merlin mounts to 6 different feeders and locations, and we recorded the mobbing calls using an Automatic Recording Unit (ARU): the model Song Meter SM3 for birdsong recordings from Wildlife Acoustics Inc., Massachusetts, USA. All the sound files were then cleaned using version 2.3.0 of Audacity® free recording and editing software (Audacity® [2]).

The first step was cropping all the files, removing any sound that was below 1.25 kHz in order to reduce the ambient noise. Then, using the "Noise Reduction" tool, we selected a portion of the recording without mobbing calls to use as a reference of the environmental noise. After the sound files were cleaned from the original recordings, we cropped each section of continuous mobbing calls, splitting them into different files following any pause longer than 2 seconds. Each smaller sound file was grouped according to the merlin mount that was originally used to create the mobbing response from the wild BCCH.

A total of 80 unique files ranging from 2 to 20 seconds in length (average= 9.58 SD= 4.55) were created and grouped by the location at which they were recorded. For the experiment, the mobbing calls were randomly selected and played in a loop for one minute, and then followed by a clip of random silence ranging from 60 to 180 seconds in duration to avoid habituation.

38

Repeating this pattern for one hour for each sequence file, there were 20 minutes of mobbing calls and 40 minutes of silence in total for each hour the speakers were playing the files. To access and download the sound files, visit the following link:

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1XLt-jwxtj-m_vdaPHIUoPEN14NCBOO38

Appendix S3. Latency to resume feeding and feeding rate from RFID readings

Using video recordings captured at the experimental feeders in mid-October, we were able to determine and adjust the readings from the RFID readers to define what comprises a true visit to the feeder. From a set of videos recorded at 4 different feeders (a total of 3 hours and 59 minutes of footage), we received 425 readings, all of which were observed in the video recordings. From the 425 readings, 72 were duplications of registries from minor movements of the birds at the antennas connected to the RFID readers. All the duplications happened within 5 seconds. Therefore, we excluded any inter-visits intervals shorter than 5 seconds from all the RFID recordings to filter out duplicated readings. We calculated latency to resume feeding as our proxy to risk-taking behaviour [3]. The latency was determined as the difference in time, measured in seconds, from the start of an event (either human disturbance at the feeder or the start of a treatment during the experimental days) to the time of the first visit for each individual. Then we filtered out individuals that were present at the feeders within an hour before the start of any treatment. This was done to ensure that birds included in our analyses had been present in the vicinity of the feeder during the 1-hour treatment period, and therefore, likely to have been exposed to the experimental treatment. We used the latency of this individuals for the analysis. For the birds that did not return on the same day, we assigned them a maximum latency score equivalent to if they had returned at civil twilight (then end of the foraging period). Finally, for the birds that did return in the same day, we calculated the feeding rate as a count of the number of visits within 20 minutes after the first recorded visit to the feeder once the experiments had started.

[1] Congdon, J.V.S., A. M. M.; Hahn, A. H.; Sturdy, C. B. In press. Black-capped chickadee behavioural responses to avian and mammalian predators of varying threat levels.

[2] Audacity®. software is copyright © 1999-2018 Audacity Team.

[3] Mathot, K.J., Nicolaus, M., Araya-Ajoy, Y.G., Dingemanse, N.J., Kempenaers, B. &
Grémillet, D. 2015 Does metabolic rate predict risk-taking behaviour? A field experiment in a wild passerine bird. Funct Ecol 29, 239-249. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12318).

Supplementary tables

Table S1. Chronogram showing the order of the treatments and details about the different

 equipment used in each one.

Date	Feeder	Replicate	Day	Time	Observer	Treatment	Mount#	Speaker#	Track#
2018-12-04	09	1	1	9:30	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2018-12-04	14	1	1	11:00	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2018-12-04	02	1	1	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	7
2018-12-04	10	1	1	14:00	Jan	Acoustic & Visual	3	1	2
2018-12-06	12	1	2	9:30	Josué	Visual	3	2	0
2018-12-06	09	1	2	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	5
2018-12-06	11	1	2	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	1	2	5
2018-12-06	02	1	2	14:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-08	16	1	3	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-08	10	1	3	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	5
2018-12-08	04	1	3	12:30	Josué	Visual	6	1	0
2018-12-08	02	1	3	14:00	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	6	2	3
2018-12-10	16	1	4	9:30	Jan	Visual	4	2	0
2018-12-10	11	1	4	11:00	Jan	Acoustic	0	2	4
2018-12-10	04	1	4	12:30	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2018-12-10	12	1	4	14:00	Jan	Acoustic & Visual	5	1	5
2018-12-12	16	1	5	9:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	1
2018-12-12	14	1	5	11:00	Josué	Visual	2	1	0
2018-12-12	4	1	5	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	6	1	3
2018-12-12	10	1	5	14:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-14	10	1	6	9:30	Josué	Visual	3	2	0
2018-12-14	12	1	6	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	8
2018-12-14	14	1	6	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	1	2	8
2018-12-14	11	1	6	14:00	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2018-12-16	02	1	7	9:30	Jan	Visual	4	1	0

2018-12-16	14	1	7	11:00	Jan	Acoustic	0	1	7
2018-12-16	09	1	7	12:30	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2018-12-16	16	1	7	14:00	Jan	Acoustic & Visual	5	1	2
2018-12-18	04	1	8	9:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	2
2018-12-18	12	1	8	11:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-18	11	1	8	12:30	Josué	Visual	2	2	0
2018-12-18	09	1	8	14:00	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	4	1	6
2018-12-28	02	2	1	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-28	12	2	1	11:00	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2018-12-28	14	2	1	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	1	2	5
2018-12-28	10	2	1	14:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	5
2018-12-30	09	2	2	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2018-12-30	04	2	2	11:00	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	6	1	2
2018-12-30	02	2	2	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	7
2018-12-30	14	2	2	14:00	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2019-01-01	09	2	3	9:30	Josué	Visual	4	1	0
2019-01-01	12	2	3	11:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-01-01	10	2	3	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	2	1	1
2019-01-01	14	2	3	14:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	2
2019-01-03	16	2	4	9:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	6	1	5
2019-01-03	10	2	4	11:00	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-01-03	09	2	4	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	6
2019-01-03	04	2	4	14:00	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2019-01-05	12	2	5	9:30	Jan	Acoustic & Visual	4	2	3
2019-01-05	16	2	5	11:00	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2019-01-05	11	2	5	12:30	Jan	Acoustic	0	2	8
2019-01-05	10	2	5	14:00	Jan	Visual	4	2	0
2019-01-07	11	2	6	9:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	1	2	5
2019-01-07	16	2	6	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	1
2019-01-07	02	2	6	12:30	Josué	Visual	2	2	0
2019-01-07	04	2	6	14:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-01-09	11	2	7	9:30	Josué	Control	0	2	0

2019-01-09	04	2	7	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	6
2019-01-09	02	2	7	12:30	Josué	Acoustic &	1	1	4
						Visual			
2019-01-09	16	2	7	14:00	Josué	Visual	1	2	0
2019-01-11	11	2	8	9:30	Josué	Visual	3	1	0
2019-01-11	12	2	8	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	2
2019-01-11	14	2	8	12:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-01-11	09	2	8	14:00	Josué	Acoustic &	2	2	4
						Visual			
2019-01-21	04	3	1	9:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	3
2019-01-21	14	3	1	11:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-01-21	10	3	1	12:30	Josué	Acoustic &	3	2	3
						Visual			
2019-01-21	12	3	1	14:00	Josué	Visual	1	1	0
2019-01-23	10	3	2	9:30	Jan	Acoustic	0	2	7
2019-01-23	12	3	2	11:00	Jan	Acoustic &	4	2	5
						Visual			
2019-01-23	09	3	2	12:30	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2019-01-23	02	3	2	14:00	Jan	Visual	2	1	0
2019-01-25	16	3	3	9:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	1
2019-01-25	12	3	3	11:00	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-01-25	14	3	3	12:30	Josué	Visual	4	2	0
2019-01-25	02	3	3	14:00	Josué	Acoustic &	1	1	7
						Visual			
2019-01-27	11	3	4	9:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	3
2019-01-27	14	3	4	11:00	Josué	Acoustic &	2	2	2
						Visual			
2019-01-27	09	3	4	12:30	Josué	Visual	1	2	0
2019-01-27	16	3	4	14:00	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-01-29	11	3	5	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-01-29	16	3	5	11:00	Josué	Visual	3	1	0
2019-01-29	09	3	5	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	6
2019-01-29	04	3	5	14:00	Josué	Acoustic &	4	2	6
						Visual			
2019-01-31	10	3	6	9:30	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2019-01-31	12	3	6	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	4
2019-01-31	09	3	6	12:30	Josué	Acoustic &	2	2	4
						Visual			
2019-01-31	04	3	6	14:00	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-02	10	3	7	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0

2019-02-02	02	3	7	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	1
2019-02-02	16	3	7	12:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	3	1	6
2019-02-02	11	3	7	14:00	Josué	Visual	4	1	0
2019-02-04	02	3	8	9:30	Jan	Control	0	1	0
2019-02-04	14	3	8	11:00	Jan	Acoustic	0	2	8
2019-02-04	04	3	8	12:30	Jan	Visual	6	2	0
2019-02-04	11	3	8	14:00	Jan	Acoustic &	3	1	1
		-	-			Visual	-		
2019-02-14	04	4	1	9:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	3	1	4
2019-02-14	14	4	1	11:00	Josué	Visual	3	1	0
2019-02-14	10	4	1	12:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-02-14	12	4	1	14:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	8
2019-02-16	11	4	2	9:30	Jan	Visual	5	1	0
2019-02-16	14	4	2	11:00	Jan	Acoustic	0	1	3
2019-02-16	12	4	2	12:30	Jan	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-16	09	4	2	14:00	Jan	Acoustic &	1	1	7
						Visual			
2019-02-18	09	4	3	9:30	Josué	Visual	5	2	0
2019-02-18	04	4	3	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	2
2019-02-18	11	4	3	12:30	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-18	12	4	3	14:00	Josué	Acoustic &	2	1	5
						Visual			
2019-02-20	04	4	4	9:30	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-20	02	4	4	11:00	Josué	Visual	2	1	0
2019-02-20	10	4	4	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	7
2019-02-20	11	4	4	14:00	Josué	Acoustic &	4	1	5
						Visual			
2019-02-22	02	4	5	9:30	Josué	Control	0	1	0
2019-02-22	10	4	5	11:00	Josué	Visual	5	1	0
2019-02-22	14	4	5	12:30	Josué	Acoustic &	4	2	3
						Visual			
2019-02-22	16	4	5	14:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	2	3
2019-02-24	02	4	6	9:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	3	1	2
2019-02-24	16	4	6	11:00	Josué	Visual	2	1	0
2019-02-24	09	4	6	12:30	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-24	11	4	6	14:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	4

2019-02-26	10	4	7	9:30	Josué	Acoustic & Visual	4	2	1
2019-02-26	02	4	7	11:00	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	1
2019-02-26	16	4	7	12:30	Josué	Control	0	2	0
2019-02-26	04	4	7	14:00	Josué	Visual	2	1	0
2019-02-28	12	4	8	9:30	Josué	Visual	1	2	0
2019-02-28	16	4	8	11:00	Josué	Acoustic &	5	2	6
						Visual			
2019-02-28	09	4	8	12:30	Josué	Acoustic	0	1	4
2019-02-28	14	4	8	14:00	Josué	Control	0	1	0

Table S2. LMM model results for latency to resume feeding including true returns (i.e., birds that did return to the feeder on the same day) and all records (i.e. individuals that were present before the start of the experiment regardless of whether they returned to the feeder after the treatment occurred). For the birds that did not return on the same day, we assigned them a maximum latency score equivalent to if they had returned at civil twilight (then end of the foraging period).

	LMM Log (LRF seconds) real visits	LMM Log (LRF seconds) all records
Fixed Effects	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)
Sex ^a	0.11 (-0.25, 0.34)	-0.06 (-0.32, 0.33)
Treatment		
Control	6.42 (6.11, 6.80)	6.60 (6.30, 6.89)
Acoustic	6.58 (6.27, 6.97)	6.80 (6.48, 7.09)
Visual	7.62 (7.22, 7.90)	7.68 (7.45, 8.03)
Both	7.41 (7.09, 7.81)	7.68 (7.32, 7.93)
Temperature ^b		
Temperature by Control	0.27 (0.08, 0.37)	0.20 (0.03, 0.36)
Temperature by Acoustic	0.22 (0.08, 0.37)	0.18 (0.02, 0.32)
Temperature by Visual	0.07 (-0.07, 0.22)	0.02 (-0.16, 0.17)
Temperature by Both	0.23 (0.07, 0.38)	0.20 (0.03, 0.39)
Random Effects	σ (95% CI)	σ (95% CI)
Individual N=79	0.32 (0.25, 0.41)	0.37 (0.28, 0.45)
Feeders N=8	0.18 (0.08, 0.35)	0.10 (0.02, 0.23)
Residual N=951;1009	1.25 (1.14, 1.37)	1.53 (1.44, 1.71)
Repeatability ^c	r (95% CI)	σ (95% CI)
Individuals	0.21 (0.17, 0.25)	0.18 (0.15, 0.22)

^a: Intercept was calculated using centred Sex as males -0.5 and females 0.5

^b: Mean daily temperature, grand mean centred and divided by 2 SD.

^c: Adjusted repeatability estimated after taking in account fixed effects.

Table S3. GLMM model results for feeding rates after 5, 10 or 20 minutes of true returns (i.e., birds that did return to the feeder on the same day). The models were created using a Poisson distribution.

	LMM Log (Feeding rate) after return					
	Log (FR 5min)	Log (FR 10min)	Log (FR 20min)			
Fixed Effects	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)	β (95% CI)			
Sex ^a	-0.22 (-0.33, -0.11)	-0.20 (-0.32, -0.08)	-0.18 (-0.34, -0.06)			
Treatment						
Control	1.27 (1.18, 1.37)	1.45 (1.34, 1.55)	1.66 (1.54, 1.77)			
Acoustic	1.13 (1.04, 1.24)	1.29 (1.20, 1.41)	1.49 (1.37, 1.60)			
Visual	1.13 (1.06, 1.26)	1.37 (1.24, 1.46)	1.53 (1.43, 1.66)			
Both	1.14 (1.05, 1.24)	1.42 (1.27, 1.49)	1.57 (1.45, 1.69)			
Temperature ^b						
Temperature by Control	0.08 (0.00, 0.15)	0.04 (-0.04, 0.11)	0.00 (-0.08, 0.08)			
Temperature by Acoustic	0.07 (-0.01, 0.14)	-0.05 (-0.11, 0.04)	-0.09 (-0.19, -0.03)			
Temperature by Visual	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.04)	-0.08 (-0.16, -0.01)	-0.06 (-0.16, 0.00)			
Temperature by Both	0.10 (0.02, 0.18)	0.05 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.01 (-0.08, 0.10)			
Random Effects	σ (95% CI)	σ (95% CI)	σ (95% CI)			
Individual N=79	0.03 (0.02, 0.04)	0.04 (0.03, 0.05)	0.06 (0.05, 0.08)			
Feeders N=8	0.00 (0.00, 0.01)	0.00 (0.00, 0.01)	0.00 (0.00, 0.01)			
Residual N=951	0.35 (0.31, 0.37)	0.37 (0.34, 0.41)	0.38 (0.35, 0.42)			
Repeatability ^c	r (95% CI)	r (95% CI)	r (95% CI)			
Individuals	0.08 (0.06, 0.10)	0.09 (0.07, 0.12)	0.15 (0.11, 0.18)			

^a: Intercept was calculated using centred Sex as males -0.5 and females 0.5

^b: Mean daily temperature, grand mean centred and divided by 2 SD.

^c: Adjusted repeatability estimated after taking in account fixed effects.

Supplementary Figures



Figure S1. Map of the field site at the University of Alberta Botanic Garden, Alberta, Canada. (53° 24' N, 113° 45' W, 0.97 km²). The black dot in the inset map represents the location of the field site within Canada. Garden limits are shown by solid grey lines; dotted grey lines represent walking pathways within the garden used during the experiments. Feeder locations are represented by black circles. West of the garden, the black lines represent the Devonian Highway

(Alberta Highway 60), used to access the garden, and the grey area represents the public visitors' area and the managed horticulturist gardens.



Figure S2. A. Photograph of one of the merlin mounts used for the treatment trials as visual cue. B. View of three other mounts used in the experimental trials. C. Photograph of one of the speakers used in the trials as an acoustic cue broadcasting mobbing calls created for the experiment. © Megan A. Westervelt



Figure S3. Feeder set up and detailed information of the feeder. A: Close up of a chickadee taking a seed out of the feeder. 1: RFID antenna reader. 2: Fine mesh to prevent feeding from the ground. B: Overall visualization of the feeder setup. JAT next to the feeder. 3: Wire mesh to protect the feeder and prevent small mammals and other birds from accessing the seeds. 4: Side access door to the battery and RFID readers. 5: Base pole of the feeder. All feeders were installed at the same height with the seed hole at approximately 1.60 m. C: Example of a acoustic+visual treatment and overview of the set-up. 6: Experimental pole. 7: Merlin mount. 8: Speaker broadcasting chickadee mobbing calls. © A and B: Megan A. Westervelt; C: Jan Wijmenga



Experimental layout (4 repetitions total)

Figure S4. A schematic representation of an experimental replicate. In total, there were 4 replicates of the experimental period and one week of rest in between replicates. Small green boxes represent days on which the simulated presence of a predator was carried out with audio and visual cues. The white boxes represent the various treatments applied at each feeder, which were assigned at random. Blue boxes represent days on which there were no experiments carried out. All the red boxes represent days on which batteries for the RFID readers were changed.